IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT EARL PETERSON,	
Appellant,	
v.	CASE NO. SC10-27 4
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 271543 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

ROBERT EARL PETERSON, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment was filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on December 15, 2005, charging Robert Peterson with one count of first-degree murder, one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and one count of destruction of evidence (4 R 681). The State also filed a notice that it would seek a death sentence if he were convicted of the murder (4 R 693).

Peterson filed several death penalty related motions, see volumes 12 and 13, which the court uniformly denied (See generally volumes 15 and 16). He also filed the following motions, which have relevance to this appeal:

- 1. Motion to Suppress Statements (14 R 2664). Denied (18 R 3367).
- Second Motion to Suppress Statements (14 R 2668). Denied (18 R 3367).
- 3. State's Motion for Pre-Penalty Phase Ruling [on admissibility of evidence that the victim was a retired police officer] (15 R 2819). Granted (16 R 2989).
- Motion to Declare Florida's Capital Sentencing Procedure
 Unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona. (12 R 2327). Denied (24 R 14)

Peterson proceeded to trial before Judge Lawrence P. Haddock on the murder and destruction of evidenced charges, and the jury convicted him as

charged (15 R 2812-14). As to the murder conviction, it also found that he had discharged a firearm during the commission of the murder (15 R 2812-13).

The defendant proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial, during which the State presented four witnesses who testified only as to victim impact. Peterson presented several witnesses to mitigate a death sentence. The jury, after it had heard this evidence, recommended death by a vote of 7-5 (16 R 3003).

Following that recommendation, the court conducted the hearing required by this Court's opinion in <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993). It then imposed a sentence of death. Justifying it, it found in aggravation that the murder

- 1. Was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
- 2. Was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification.
 - 3. Was committed for pecuniary gain.

(17 R 3126)

In mitigation, the court found the following:

- 1. The defendant had a long and well documented history of drug abuse. Slight weight.
 - 2. The defendant has skills as a mechanic
 - 3. The defendant is a good son.
- 4. A sentence of death would have serious negative impact on others.
 - 5. The defendant was a good friend.
 - 6. The defendant contributed to the community.
 - 7. The defendant has been an exceptional inmate
- 8. The defendant exhibited good and mannerly behavior throughout the court proceedings.
- 9. The defendant is amenable to rehabilitation and a productive live in prison

(17 R 3130-33)

This appeal follows.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Between 9 and 10 a.m. on Monday August 8, 2005, two gunshots were heard in the vicinity of the Greenlawn Cemetery in Jacksonville (20 R 291, 293). About the same time or shortly after, a green pickup truck was also seen in the cemetery backing up "really fast" and leaving the cemetery (20 R 292). As it sped off, workers at a nearby welding shop saw a single white male driving (20 R 304).

Two cemetery maintenance workers approached another pickup that was parked near where the other truck had just left. They saw a man, Roy Andrews, laying on the ground on the passenger side of the truck with blood coming from his head (20 R 313). A baseball cap lay nearby (20 R 329). When the police arrived, they also discovered he still wore his watch and a ring, and his wallet had over \$1100 in cash (20 R 372).

Roy Andrews had been badly beaten about the face, as if with brass knuckles (21 R 478). He also had some wounds about his shoulder, neck and one of his hands (21 R 477). He had also been shot twice in the head, and the latter wounds were the cause of death (21 R 480, 499-500).

By August 8, 2005 Robert Peterson and Clara Keene had been dating for about a month (20 R 415). She had a green pickup truck, and on that date she gave him the keys to it (20 R 417-19). She never saw it again although she would look for it "a lot." (20 R 419)

Roy Andrews was Peterson's step father. Peterson, about 40, lived with him and his mother in his parent's house (22 R 720). He worked, but his mother would give him money occasionally (20 R 456). Roy, for his part threw his stepson out of the house (21 R 529, 531). Peterson was very angry at this and said he was going to kill Andrews (21 R 531).

Within two days of Andrew's death, the police had focused their investigation on Peterson. They talked with Jimmie Jackson, a friend or acquaintance of the defendant, and convinced him to let them record conversations they wanted Jackson to have with Peterson. Jackson called him, and in the rambling conversation, Peterson admitted killing his stepfather because Andrews had "come home from church and call her a fat bitch. You fat bitch. Is that the best you can do is sit on your lazy ass?" (22 R 627) This angered the defendant because you "Don't fuck with me, my mama or my family. That's the way it is. Don't fuck with us. . . . Hey, you slap my mama, you cross the fucking line. That's all there is to it. You slap my old lady, you cross it. You slap my kids; you slap me, you cross the fucking line. I don't give a fuck who you are. That's the way it is." (22 R 626)

The defendant also explained how he committed the homicide. He pretended that his truck had broken down in the cemetery, and he called Andrews for help. When he showed up, he beat him with brass knuckles, breaking his jaw,

knocking out his teeth and "his eyeball hanging out of his fucking head." (22 R 638-39). Andrews was still alive, so Peterson then shot him twice (22 R 640).

He left, took a shower, and then disposed of his clothes, the gun, and the truck by apparently taking it to a metal crushing facility (22 R 637).

The Defense Case

In 2005, 41-year-old Robert Peterson lived with his mother, who had chronic emphysema, and his stepfather, Roy Andrews. Peterson saw Andrews as much more than a stepfather, but as his best friend (22 R 660). They would go fishing, car racing, and to church together. They built cars as a father and son (22 R 660). They were a close family, and arguments that arose from time to time were quickly solved or resolved (22 R 664). From time to time, his mother and stepfather had insulted the other, and Peterson, bothered by the rude language, had pulled them aside to let them know this (22 R 664).

On August 7, 2005, Peterson was talking with Andrews when he noticed some blood on his nose (22 R 667). After wiping it off, he got some money from his mother who wanted him to use it to buy some lottery tickets (22 R 668). He was in a bit of a hurry because he had left his girlfriend at a motel, and he wanted to get back to her, so they could party (22 R 669-70). As he rushed about he knocked his head on the door of his father's truck, and his hat fell inside the

passenger side of the vehicle. Because he was in such a rush, he did not pick it up (22 R 670).

Now, Peterson used cocaine, and sometime in the third week of July, he had given Jimmie Jackson, a drug dealer \$10,000 for the latter to buy a large amount of cocaine (22 R 670-71). They had done drug deals before, and this time, Peterson was confident he could "clear" \$4,000 from the \$10,000 investment in cocaine, which he believed he could sell (22 R 671)

In any event, Peterson and his girlfriend partied until about 4:30 a.m. ofn
August 8 (22 R 672). He left the motel room and by 7 a.m. returned home (22 R
674). He left some time later looking for Jackson. He could not find him and by 9
a.m. he had gone to work at a house across the street from where he lived (22 R
677). He noticed that he had lost his cell phone, so figuring he had left it with his
father he drove around town looking for him. Eventually, he returned to the motel
room and brought his girlfriend home so she could sit with his mother (22 R 679)

Two days later, on August 10, he met up with Jackson because the latter was supposed to give him the \$14,000 (22 R 681). They got into Jackson's car, and the defendant soon knew that he was not going to get the money from the drug dealer (22 R 681). He then tried to intimidate Jackson by telling him that he had killed his father two days earlier as a way to get the money (22 R 689, 702, 720). He told him that he had beaten his father until an eye had fallen out (22 R 639) (it had not

(21 R 501), he had shot his father twice and shot off the side of his face (22 R 640), and he told Jackson that Andrew's brains were all over the place (22 R 684). In short, he "absolutely did not" kill his stepfather (22 R 689). He had gotten details of the murder correct from viewing his father's body in a casket shortly before he was buried (22 R 685).

Over the course of a year, Peterson's mother had given her son about \$25,000, some apparently as a gift and other for work he had done (22 R 709). From that amount he paid his \$350 monthly child support and rent for a mini storage unit (22 R 709). That yearly sum also included \$10,000 she gave him (22 R 709-710).

At the Spencer¹ hearing, Peterson's counsel called Doctor William Morton who was board certified in psychiatric pharmacy (17 R 3199). He had examined or talked with Peterson, and concluded that the defendant had a cocaine addiction that had a profound effect on his thinking and behavior in 2005 (17 R 3205).

According to Dr. Morton, the defendant had used marijuana, alcohol, and cocaine, but not so much marijuana because it was not "his thing." (17 R 3214). He did, however, heavily use cocaine, using up to a quarter of an ounce of the drug a week, which is a large amount (17 R 3214). He ingested about 3.24 grams a day (17 R 3214). Indeed, he was using so much at the time of the murder that his

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

"perceptions of Roy Andrews, of his mom, Ms. Andrews, of other people would not be accurate, would be contaminated with paranoia, contaminated with delusional thinking." (17 R 3238)

Although Peterson was able to hide his cocaine addiction from his wife, its effects, nonetheless, led to the breakup of his marriage (17 R 3216). Not only did his addiction lead to the collapse of his marriage, it affected every other area of his life. Because of the cocaine, he had chest pains, an inconsistent work history, persistent legal and financial problems, and a family that left him (17 R 3120-21). Indeed, at times, he had no functional family (17 R 3222)

Well, not all his family left him. His father was a drug dealer, and he taught his son how to use crack effectively and deal it, and he even used it with him (17 R 3221-22).

An uncle sexually abused him, and his grandfather physically did so. As a result, and in addition to his drug and alcohol addictions, Peterson has a panic disorder, possibly suffers from a post-traumatic stress disorder, and is depressed (17 R 3224).

As a result of his cocaine addiction, the defendant was paranoid, impulsive, irritable, aggressive, had delusional thinking, auditory hallucinations, panic attacks, felt agitated or restless, and constantly craved cocaine (17 R 3231-32, 3235). He also had some psychotic symptoms (17 R 3235) When he stopped using the drug

he had a significant "crash" in which he would go into a rage and act like a wild man, which resulted in him destroying things and being physically aggressive (17 R 3232).

Consequently, Dr. Morton concluded that Peterson's cocaine addiction "played a significant role" in the death of Roy Andrews. "I think it played a significant role because, again, cocaine is so powerful and so pervasive from what he reported, what I know of working with cocaine addicts, these behaviors could very easily have led to a crimeI don't want to say that they caused the crime, but they are factors that one would consider leading up to the crime." (17 R 3237)

More specifically, because of the addiction and the resulting delusional thinking, Andrews's threat to cut off his money supply and kick him out of the house created a crisis of huge proportions to Peterson. He did not think logically (17 R 3235) "His whole survival means was being threatened, both where he was going to live, how he was going to live, . . And I think it probably fed into this survival mode where, again, where cocaine is the main thing, where am I going to get a place to stay? Where am I going to get cocaine?" (17 R 3238) Under these conditions, Dr. Morton said that violence was common (17 R 3239), and as a result, he believed that Peterson's cocaine addiction "was a factor that definitely needed to be considered." (17 R 3254)

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. About a year before Andrews's death, Cheryl Greer, Peterson's girlfriend had been hit by a car and killed. She was buried near where Andrews's body was found. The police used Jimmie Jackson, a drug dealer acquaintance of Peterson's to record a conversation he had with the defendant a couple of days after the murder. During that talk, he admitted that he had "stacked them double." This clearly implied that Greer's death may not have been so accidental, and that Peterson may have somehow caused it. Now if the jury had heard that "stacked them double" comment only once, then perhaps whatever error had occurred in admitting this testimony would have been harmless. But it did not. Instead, for virtually every nonpolice or death investigation witness the State called, it asked them about that admission. Moreover, it emphasized the sinister import of that statement in its closing argument by replaying the portion of the taped conversation. Not only that, the jury, during its deliberations asked to hear the tape again, and it did. Thus, the implication that Peterson may have killed Greer a year earlier and apparently gotten away with it fatally and fundamentally damaged the fairness of his trial. Not only there, but the error also puts into doubt the validity of the jury's 7-5 death recommendation.

ISSUE II. During the penalty phase part of Peterson's trial the State presented only victim impact evidence. While it could do so, it could not use that evidence, particularly that the victim, Roy Andrews, was a retired police officer

and that he had served his country as a paratrooper in the United States Army to help justify a death recommendation. Moreover, one of Andrews' sons, at the end of his testimony, said he wanted a "just punishment." That was improper because this Court has specifically held that victim impact witnesses cannot express the punishment they believe the defendant should get. That, however, happened here.

ISSUE III. Peterson confessed to killing his stepfather to Jimmie Jackson, a drug dealer he had worked with. But the police had "wired" Jackson and sent him to talk with Peterson specifically about the murder. At the police station, the informant initiated the telephone conversations that led to the meeting with the defendant at the Waffle House. Until this conversation, Jackson had never called him. During the subsequent conversations, Jackson specifically asked the defendant "But how did you do it," and as a result, Peterson confessed to killing his stepfather and destroying the truck. At no time did Jackson tell Peterson to leave, or, in fact, give any indication he could leave.

Based on these fact, it is clear that Peterson was in custody when he talked with Jackson. As such, he should have been informed of his Miranda rights.

ISSUE IV. Without any challenge, Peterson had a cold and premeditated intent when he killed his stepfather. He did not, however, have the necessary calculation also required if the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator is to be found. In this case, he lacked that essential element.

ISSUE V. The court improperly found that Peterson killed his stepfather for pecuniary gain. In justifying finding this aggravator, it relied on hearsay that Andrews planned or had said he was going to order his son to leave his house. Thus, the reason he killed his step father was to prevent him from doing so. But the evidence of that intent was hearsay, and as such, the court should not have used it to justify finding the pecuniary gain aggravating factor.

ISSUE VI. The court considered but rejected as deserving "little weight" the essentially unchallenged testimony of Dr. William Morton. This expert found that because of Peterson's heavy dependence on cocaine, it was a significant fact in the murder of Roy Andrews. With such strong unrefuted evidence that explained better than any evidence the State presented the defendant's mental state when he killed his stepfather, the court could not simply ignore it by finding it merited only little weight.

ISSUE VII. A death sentence is proportionately unwarranted because although there is only one valid aggravator there is also strong mitigation that Peterson's addiction to cocaine had a significant impact on this murder. As such, this is not one of the most aggravated and least mitigated of first degree murders.

ISSUE VIII. This Court wrongly avoided the issues presented by Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S. Ct. 662 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.

2002), cert denied, 123 S. Ct. 657 (2002). Because Ring was an "intervening development of the law" this Court could determine its affects on Florida's death penalty scheme without incurring the wrath of the United States Supreme Court, as this Court was leery of doing in those state cases. When it conducts that examination, this Court should conclude that Ring requires at least unanimous jury recommendations of death. This Court should also find that even though the defendant may have a single valid aggravator, Ring still has relevance to the constitutionality of his death sentence.

V. ARGUMENT ISSUE I:

THE COURT FUNDAMENTALLY ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO REPEATEDLY PRESENT EVIDENCE THAT PETERSON MAY HAVE COMMITTED ANOTHER MURDER, A VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL AND SENTENCE.

Before trial, Peterson filed three motions to suppress the statement he had made to Jimmie Jackson, a drug dealer that he knew and had had dealings with (22 R 670). At the hearing, the court heard a telephone conversation between the pair in which the defendant mentioned that a former girlfriend had been killed by a car as she walked on a highway in Jacksonville. Peterson said he had been accused of that and faced an involuntary manslaughter charge.

Mr. Peterson: They said I threw her out in front of a car. So what, you know. Hey, maybe it happened like that, maybe it didn't. shit's got to happen sometimes they shit's got to happen, you know. The kids are a fucking lot better off now than if that hadn't –if she still was alive—

Mr. Jackson: I thought she might was just drinking, just wandered out there. Goddamn.

Mr. Peterson: Yeah, go ahead and think that.

* * *

Mr. Peterson: Yeah, well an old lady did hit her, but she tripped and fell in the fucking highway, didn't she? And you know what? This man landed on top of her grave. Okay. I stacked them double.

* * *

Look listen, she put so much stuff in my fucking face and she pissed me off so bad, and she—she went somewhere she wasn't supposed to

go. She went there. So when she went there, boom, that was the end of that. I had enough.

* * *

I'm just as coldhearted as the next motherfucker, man.

(18 R 3348-50)

The court denied the motion, but at trial, the State did not play that telephone conversation. Instead, it introduced what Peterson told Jackson as they sat in the truck at the waffle house. Significantly, it played the part where Peterson mentioned the death of his former girlfriend.

Mr. Peterson: I was sitting at my mama's house when they came and informed us he got killed.

I'm - - I'm busted up, man, rrrrr. They loaded me up and take me downtown right off the fucking bat.

Mr. Jackson: You crying?

Mr. Peterson: No. Because I'm the number one suspect. ...

Mr. Jackson: I didn't know you was –I didn't know that you was (inaudible) suspect. (inaudible).

Mr. Peterson: Hey, the girl that got killed on Phillips Highway

Mr. Jackson: Yeah. She probably drinking, just wandered out there. (inaudible) that's what I thought (inaudible) old lady (inaudible).

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