IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT EARL PETERSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC10-274

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE V.

Neither of the two disputed portions of testimony constituted inadmissible hearsay. The "pecuniary gain" aggravator was supported by competent substantial evidence.

ISSUE VI.

The relative weight given each mitigating factor is within the discretion of the sentencing court. Appellant has not offered any compelling reason to alter this general rule of law. The court did not abuse its discretion in assigning slight weight to the non-statutory "drug use" mitigator.

ISSUE VII.

Comparing this case to similar capital cases, it is clear that the death sentence was proportional to the murder.

ISSUE VIII.

This Court has repeated rejected the *Ring* claims Appellant asserts here, and should do so again in this case.

ARGUMENT ISSUE I

DID THE STATE'S INTRODUCTION OF TESTIMONY AND ARGUMENT RELATING TO APPELLANT'S STATEMENT THAT HE "STACKED THEM DOUBLE" WHEN ROY ANDREWS LANDED ON THE GRAVE OF CHERYL GREER CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR? (Restated)

Standard of review

Appellant acknowledges that he did not object to the disputed evidence or otherwise preserve an argument for review, and that only he is entitled to relief only if he demonstrates fundamental error. Because an unpreserved claim does not involve a trial court ruling that can be accorded any particular deference, claims of fundamental error are review de novo. See Croom v. State, 36 So.3d 707, 709 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)(holding that an appellate court "reviews a defendant's unpreserved claim that a trial court committed fundamental error de novo").

The disputed statements

Appellant's brief suggests that the State simply introduced evidence implying that he committed another murder while his counsel and the court stood idly by. The record tells a different story.

At officers' direction, Jimmie Jackson secretly recorded a conversation with Appellant (XXII 619-621). In the conversation, Appellant described in detail how he lured Roy Andrews to him, killed Andrews, and then covered his tracks. Appellant told Jackson that he killed Andrews in a cemetery, and that Andrews' body landed on the grave of "Cheryl," an acquaintance who had

been struck by a car and killed a year earlier. In Appellant's words, he "stacked them double" (XXII 642).

Prior to trial, Appellant sought to suppress the recording on various grounds (XIV 2641-49, 2664-2671). At the outset of the hearing on these motions, the prosecutor informed the court that he and defense counsel had redacted the transcript of the recording to exclude certain matters such as "defendant's record and another homicide that he attempted to claim credit for" (XVIII 3279-3280).4

Before trial, the parties announced that they had stipulated that the recording of the conversation between Appellant and Jackson had been redacted (XIX 5-6, 8). The court read the following stipulation to the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, you're about to hear a statement recorded by the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. The Court has held and the State and defense hereby stipulated and agreed that certain portions of this statement should be redacted. That means removed.

You should not concern yourself with and should draw no conclusions about those portions of the statement which have not been placed before you.

(XXI 596). The jury was given transcripts of the (redacted) recording (XXII 622), and the redacted recording was played (XXII 622-651).

⁴References to the victim as a retired law enforcement officer were also redacted.

⁵The record on appeal contains a disc of the unredacted recording. The redacted recording was State's Exhibit 73. The State also attached the transcript of the redacted recording (the

At the suppression hearing, the <u>unredacted</u> recording of the conversation was played (XVIII 3328-3351). As the prosecutor had alluded to, some of the portions eventually redacted implied that Appellant himself had been responsible for the death of Cheryl Greer, the woman on whose grave Appellant said Andrews landed after Appellant killed him. Those comments were as follows:

- 1. Referring to Roy Andrews, Appellant stated "That's the second mother-fucker I got laying in the cemetery, O.K.?" (XVIII 3334).
- 2. The underlined portions of the following excerpt from the transcript:

PETERSON: All right. Hey, the girl that got

killed on Philips Highway?

JACKSON: Yeah.

PETERSON: I got accused for that. I went through all that fucking involuntary manslaughter charges and all that BS.

JACKSON: Damn.

PETERSON: They said I threw her out in front of a car. So what, you know. Hey, maybe it happened like that, maybe it didn't. Shit's got to happen sometimes the way shit's got to happen, you know. The kids are a fucking lot better off now than if that hadn't -- if she still was alive --

JACKSON: I thought she might was just drinking, just wandered out there. Goddamn.

PETERSON: Yeah, go ahead and think that.

JACKSON: Well, then all -- then all that's -- that's what I thought, (inaudible) -- saying woman, an old lady hit her, some shit like that there.

PETERSON: Yeah, well an old lady did hit her, but she tripped and fell in the fucking highway, didn't she? And you know what?

one given to the jury) to its sentencing memorandum (XVI 3079-3096).

This man landed on her grave. Okay. I stacked them double.

JACKSON: Damn. That the --

PETERSON: They went through my truck, they

got --

JACKSON: That's the -- that's one Randy used to go with.

PETERSON: Yeah, she did. I put one of top of her.

JACKSON: Uh, that crazy ass name.

PETERSON: Cheryl.

JACKSON: Yeah. Yeah. Yeah. That's the one Randy -- that's the one that fighting, that wanted to come fight Diane about Randy.

PETERSON: Yeah. Yeah.

JACKSON: God no, I thought -- no, I ain't -- I ain't paid that no mind there because -- because I just thought -- because I know it were raining that -- that day.

were raining that -- that day.

PETERSON: Look. Look listen. She put so much stuff in my fucking face and she pissed me off so bad, and she -- she went somewhere where she wasn't supposed to go. She went there. So when she went there, boom, that was the end of that. I had enough.

JACKSON: Hey, I'm busy. I'll call you back.

PETERSON: When she went there, I had enough.

You know what I'm saying? I had enough.

JACKSON: Uh-huh.

MR. PETERSON: Like I said, I ain't got no problems doing it. I'm just as coldhearted

as the next motherfucker, man.

(XVIII 3348-3350).

After the underlined comments above were redacted, all that remained of the exchange about Cheryl Greer that the jury heard was the following:

PETERSON: Alright. The girl that got killed on Phillips Highway?

JACKSON: Yeah.

JACKSON: I thought she might was just drinking, just wandered out there, god-damn. Well, then all, then all, then all, that's, that's what I thought, but by they saying woman, an old lady hit her, some shit like that there.

PETERSON: Yeah, well an old lady did hit her, but she tripped and fell in the fucking highway, didn't she? And you know what? This man, landed on her grave! O.K. I stacked em double.

JACKSON: Damn. That the--

PETERSON: They went through my truck, they got--

JACKSON: That the, that's one, uh, uh, Randy

used to go with.

PETERSON: Yeah, she did.

JACKSON: Uh, uh,

PETERSON: And I put one on top of her.

JACKSON: Uh, uh, that crazy ass name, uh,

uh,

PETERSON: Cheryl. Yeah, yeah. Like I said, I ain't got a problem with doing it. I'm just as cold-hearted as the next motherfucker man.

(XVI 3090-91, XXII 641-42).6

In short, Appellant's counsel successfully removed all statements suggesting that Appellant had been responsible for Cheryl Greer's death. All that remained was the fact that she was struck by a car, and that Appellant put Roy Andrews' body "on top of" Greer's grave.

Appellant utterly ignores trial counsel's effort to remove the implications that Appellant killed Cheryl Greer from the recording. Instead, Appellant wrongly identifies a relevant part of the unredacted recording as a separate "telephone conversation" between Jackson and him that the State "did not play" at trial (IB 17). This assertion is false. This was not a separate recording that the State simply chose not to introduce

⁶This account is taken from the transcript that was given to the jury rather than the actual trial transcript, because the trial transcript contains several gaps where the recording was inaudible to the court reporter.

at trial. It was the same recording at issue here, prior to the redactions Appellant's counsel had successfully secured before it was played for the jury.

At trial, the prosecutor mentioned the "stacked them double" comment in opening statement (XX 271). The recording was played for the jury where Appellant made that statement (XXII 642). The prosecutor confronted Appellant with this statement in cross-examination (XXII 697-98). During closing, the section of the recording where Appellant made the comment was played four times (XXII 766, 795; XXIII 822, 890). The recording was also played for the jury during deliberations (XXIV 1098).

Merits

proper backdrop, it becomes Under this clear that Appellant's comments included in the recording do not constitute fundamental error entitling Appellant to a new trial. Errors that have not been preserved by contemporaneous objection can be considered on direct appeal only if the error is fundamental. See, e.g., Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999)("If the error is not properly preserved or is unpreserved, the conviction can be reversed only if the error is 'fundamental'"). Statements improperly suggesting that the defendant committed a collateral crime constitute fundamental error only it they "reach[] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." England v. State, 940 So.2d 389, 398 (Fla. 2006), quoting Doorbal v. State, 837 So.2d 940, 954-55 (Fla. 2003).

Unless one incorporates the knowledge that Appellant had seemed to claim that he was responsible for Cheryl Greer's death, nothing about Appellant's statements that the jury actually heard reasonably suggests that Appellant may have killed Greer. in isolation, after the redactions were made, all Appellant's statements suggest is that he was aware of Greer's death and the location of her grave, and he had dumped Roy Andrews' body on top on her grave. No reasonable reading of Appellant's statements that he "stacked them double" or that he "put one on top of her" suggests that he was responsible for Greer's death. Even if an active imagination could conclude from Appellant's statements that he might have been responsible for Greer's death, in no way did such strained speculation "reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained" without it.

In fact, as the jury heard it, Appellant made the cause of Ms. Greer's death clear in his statement to Mr. Jackson: "Yeah, well an old lady did hit her, but she tripped and fell in the fucking highway, didn't she?" (XXII 642). Appellant's own words reflect that Greer died because she tripped and fell in the highway. It is simply not even a rational conclusion that Appellant admitted that he killed Greer, much less fundamental error.

The same is true of Appellant's statements that he "stacked them double" or that he "put one on top of her." These phrases connote only that Appellant put one dead body on top of another, not that he killed both of them. And even if these phrases support an implication that Appellant killed both of them, they are far from the high standard of fundamental error.

Of course, when the redacted material is read along with the unredacted material, a different picture emerges. The listener hears that Appellant was accused of throwing Ms. Greer in front of a car and that "maybe it happened like that, maybe it didn't." Appellant also expresses his antipathy toward Ms. Greer, saying that she "pissed me off so bad," that he had "had enough" of her, and that her children were a lot better off with her dead. these statements had been included in the recording played for the jury, Appellant may have had a point that prejudicial evidence that he committed a collateral crime was introduced at But of course, no such evidence was admitted, thanks to trial. the actions of defense counsel and the prosecutor. While the knowledge that Appellant made these redacted statements might prejudice one about any reference to Ms. Greer's death in the recording, the jury could not have been prejudiced in that manner because it never learned that Appellant made those statements. The statements they heard in no reasonably way imply that Appellant killed Ms. Greer.

 $^{^7{}m What}$ Appellant's argument boils down to is that he feels that counsel did not redact enough from the recording. Whether counsel sought to redact the "stacked them double" and "put one

As such, the disputed statements did not reasonably imply that Appellant killed Ms. Greer. Rather, the statements were highly relevant to establish the veracity of Appellant's statements to Jimmie Jackson that he (Appellant) had killed Roy Andrews. In his testimony, Appellant claimed that he had nothing to do with Andrews' death. Appellant contended that his detailed description of his murder of Roy Andrews made to Jimmie Jackson was just "tough-talk intimidation" because Jackson owed him money (XXII 689). The fact that Appellant knew specific details of the killing that would be known only to the killer belies his denial. In particular, Appellant knew that Andrews' body was located near the grave of Cheryl Greer. Moreover, the fact that his former girlfriend was buried in Greenlawn Cemetery gave Appellant a personal connection to the cemetery that again supports the contention that he killed Andrews.

Because the statements were relevant to Appellant's guilt and did not reasonably suggest that Appellant killed Cheryl Greer, they would have been admissible even if Appellant had objected. Even if the statements were improperly introduced, they were far from "reaching down into the validity of the trial

on top of her" comments is unknown. The State submits that this Court should be cautious to find fundamental error when the record shows that counsel was aware of the matter and may have had reasons not to object.

⁸Appellant agreed that the body was as close to Greer's grave as possible without driving over gravestones (XXII 697-98). Janis Diamond testified regarding the locations of Greer's grave and Andrews' body (XXI 463-68).

itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error."

Keen v. State, 775 So.2d 263, 279 (Fla. 2000), presented this Court with similar circumstance. Keen claimed that a statement contained in a taped conversation between him and Shapiro, where Shapiro stated, "And in, in light of your past history, even she [Keen's girlfriend] believes that you're guilty" constituted improper collateral offense evidence and fundamental error. This Court disagreed, "because Shapiro's testimony was the centerpiece of the State's case against Keen," "exhaustive, first-person account of the planning execution of a murder, compelling in both detail and volume," which was "more than enough to support a guilty verdict and precludes a fundamental error finding on this claim." Id. same is true here. See also England, 940 So.2d at 397-98; So.2d at Doorbal, 837 955-56. Appellant has failed to demonstrate fundamental error.

ISSUE II

DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO EXCLUDE ALLEGEDLY IMPROPER VICTIM IMPACT TESTIMONY? (Restated)

Standard of review

The admission of victim impact testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Deparvine v. State, 995 So.2d 351, 378 (Fla. 2008). If no specific objection to the victim impact evidence is made, the determination of whether the evidence constitutes fundamental error is reviewed de novo. Croom v. State. A decision on a motion for a mistrial is within the discretion of the trial judge and such a motion should be granted only in the case of absolute necessity. Snipes v. State, 733 So.2d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 1999).

Trial court's ruling

Nearly a year and a half prior to trial Appellant filed a "Motion to Exclude Evidence or Argument Designed To Create Sympathy for the Deceased (Victim Impact Evidence)" (XII 2290-2301). The motion claimed that section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes, was unconstitutional on various grounds, and that evidence admitted pursuant to it would render the capital sentencing scheme unconstitutional. The motion simply attacked the notion of victim impact evidence in capital sentencing and did not address in any way any specific objections to the victim impact evidence introduced in this case. Prior to the penalty phase, Appellant offered no argument in support of this motion, and the court denied it without comment (XXIV 35-36).

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